1959

Vada J. Tomlinson Acott et al v. Union Carbide Nuclear Company and Leslie A. Tomlinson : Brief of Third-Party Defendant and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appeal herein arises out of a prior action entitled *Acott, et al., vs. Tomlinson*, 9 Utah 2d 71, 337 P.2d 720, which case will hereinafter be referred to as the prior case. The plaintiffs and respondents herein are indenti-

cal to the plaintiffs in the prior case, and the third-party defendant and appellant herein was the defendant in the prior case. The parties referred to constitute all of the heirs of A.L. Tomlinson, deceased, except the widow who was not a party to the prior case and is not a party to this action. For convenience, plaintiffs and respondents will hereafter be referred to as Respondents and third-party defendant will hereafter be referred to as Appellant.

The fundamental matter involved in this case is the interest of the Appellant in certain mining claims situate in Emery County, which were the subject matter of the prior case. This interest will be referred to herein as the Tomlinson interest. The judgment in the prior case imposed a constructive trust in favor of the Respondents as to 12/21st of the Tomlinson interest. It also awarded Respondents a substantial money judgment by reason of an accounting relating to the trust property. The proceedings following the judgment in the prior case, which was entered on February 20, 1958, gave rise to the instant case.

On the 1st day of April, 1958, the Respondents caused an execution to issue out of the District Court of Carbon County to subject the Appellant's rights in the Tomlinson interest to the judgment of February 20, 1958, (R. 2). The Appellant moved the court to stay the sale and execution, but so far as the record shows, the motion was ignored. On May 8, 1958, the sheriff of Emery County made and filed his return on execution, which represented

that the Appellant's interest had been sold to Respondents for the sum of \$3,000.00, all of which, with the exception of \$40.03, was applied to the judgment. The sheriff's deed, which was executed pursuant to the sale, recited that the Respondents were the owners of the entire Tomlinson interest. This is the representation in paragraph (c) of Respondents' motion for summary judgment, (R. 33). On April 21, 1958, the Appellant filed his notice of appeal in the prior case, (Appeal No. 8879). In that appeal, the Respondents filed a cross-appeal claiming that the parties and the widow, Lillie M. Tomlinson, had agreed to divide the estate of A. L. Tomlinson equally, each heir being entitled to a 1/8th interest. The decision of this Court in the appeal was filed on April 6, 1959. It affirmed the judgment of the trial court as far as the constructive trust was concerned, but denied Respondents' claim relating to the division of interest. The language of the court is as follows :

“Notwithstanding plaintiffs' evidence that the heirs, including the mother, when they shared in the proceeds did so in equal shares, the evidence is not so clear and persuasive as to make mandatory a finding that such was the agreement between them. Furthermore, the mother is not a party to this suit. The effect of the plaintiffs' contention is that the court should adjudicate her rights, depriving her of her full widow's statutory share in the property, in a suit to which she is not a party, which the trial court properly refused to do.” *Acott, et al., v. Tomlinson, supra.*

During the process of the litigation of the prior case, certain royalties had accumulated in the hands of certain

trustees and Union Carbide Nuclear Company, defendant and third-party plaintiff herein. As a result of the attempts to force the payment of the funds, the Respondents filed their complaint in this action on April 1, 1958, the date on which the writ of execution herein issued. Upon the motion of Union Carbide Nuclear Company, the Appellant was joined. Appellant filed his answer to the third-party complaint and set forth a counterclaim, and the Respondents thereafter filed their reply to the counterclaim. On the 18th day of August, 1958, the Respondents filed a motion for summary judgment, (R. 36). The Respondents' motion came on for hearing on the 19th day of August, 1958, at which time the court denied the motion without prejudice to Respondents' right to renew, (R. 62). The motion was renewed, and was again heard on October 7, 1958, at which time the court granted the motion and entered a judgment. (R. 43, 62). The Appellant thereafter filed his motion to vacate judgment on the 23rd day of June, 1959, and the court signed an amended judgment on the 7th of July, 1959, (R. 49).

The foregoing presents the events leading up to this appeal with reference to the pleadings involved, and particularly the motion for summary judgment, the granting of which is the subject matter of this appeal.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

The Appellant believes that the proper purpose and function of a motion for summary judgment is to separate the formal from the substantial issues, eliminate improper issues, determine the issues of fact which must be presented to the court or jury and enable the court to give judgment on the issues of law where no disputed issues of fact are found. In arriving at the appropriate answer, this Court has followed the rule that the party against whom the judgment has been granted is entitled to have all of the facts presented and the inferences arising therefrom considered in the light most favorable to him, *Young v. The Texas Company*, 8 Utah 2d 206, 331 P.2d 1099. Accordingly, the party asking the court to grant a motion for summary judgment has the burden of demonstrating clearly that there is no genuine issue of fact. 3 *Federal Practice and Procedure*, section 1235. Where the motion attempts to adjudicate the entire controversy, it should be directed toward all of the pleadings.

It is difficult to determine whether Respondents' motion was directed only to issues between them and defendant and third-party plaintiff, or was to include Appellant's answer and counterclaim. The appellant's answer and counterclaim raised issues of fact relating to the sale on execution and the adequacy of the price paid by the Respondents, who were the sole bidders and purchasers. The record does not disclose that any men-

tion was made of the presence or absence of these issues. In spite of the fact that Respondents admitted there were issues of fact, (T2, 5 line 7) the court apparently adjudicated the entire controversy. There was no presentation of facts to the court, and the court apparently accepted the representations of Respondents in their motion for summary judgment as sufficient to satisfy the burden of proof. There is nothing else to establish the presence or absence of issues of facts or indicate a showing by Respondents, let alone meeting the burden of proof. Appellant believes that he is entitled to be heard as to all issues, fact or law. He is entitled to ask a court of equity to inquire into the execution sale and consider whether, in the light of all of the facts, the court should intervene because of inadequate consideration and whether the Respondents had a right to purchase and whether or not the sale was attended by circumstances of unfairness. This Court has so held in *Pender v. Dowse*, 265 P.2d 644, 1 Utah 2d 283 at page 288:

“It is well settled that equity will intervene and set aside an execution sale or cancel a sheriff’s deed, after the redemption period has expired, where it appears the consideration was grossly inadequate and the sale was attended by unfairness and fraud.”

While a motion for summary judgment has the purpose of expediting litigation and therefore serves a useful and proper purpose, it was not intended to dispense with every facet of legal proceedings. Respondents’ motion for summary judgment was not directed to the Appel-

lant. The complaint herein prayed for relief against Union Carbide Nuclear Company, and the motion for summary judgment asked that the Respondents have judgment against that party alone and did not purport to determine any issues raised by Appellant's counterclaim. It avoids the questions raised by Appellant, and seeks a determination sufficient to compel the defendant Union Carbide Nuclear Company to pay over money it holds. After this is accomplished, Appellant's rights will certainly go begging, without regard to their merit. Without inquiry, an amended judgment was entered decreeing that the Appellant had no rights whatsoever in the Tomlinson interest, (R. 49). In the first judgment, (R. 43) the Respondents led the court into error by urging it to decree that Respondents were the owners of the entire Tomlinson interest, contrary to the trial courts own judgment and the decision of this Court. The amended judgment (R. 48) accomplishes the same result. In their motions for summary judgment, (R. 33, 36) the Respondents represent that they are entitled to a judgment "(c) declaring plaintiffs to be entitled to receive the entire 3.7158 per cent of the royalties due or becoming due under said lease from May 1, 1958, when plaintiffs became the purchasers of Third Party Defendant's interest in said claims at a Sheriff's Sale pursuant to a writ of Execution of Civil No. 7468, a copy of the Certificate of Sale being attached to the Answer to Third Party Complaint in this action;". If anyone looked at the record to determine the title to the property involved, the judgment in the prior case, the sheriff's deed and the amended

judgment would place the ownership of the entire Tomlinson interest in the Respondents, just as they claimed. While the trial court intended to correct this, the amended judgment fails in the attempt.

Appellant by his answer and counterclaim has urged that the deed was wholly void. Appellant contends that he has an interest that the deed extinguishes; and therefore, he has a right to attack its validity. This presents additional issues of fact which Appellant believes genuine. The recital in the judgment that there is no genuine issue of any material fact is based solely on the affidavit of Thomas C. Cuthbert, one of the Respondents' attorneys. That affidavit merely stated that upon information he believes that the defendant Union Carbide Nuclear Company was holding \$738.64, of which Respondents were entitled to \$422.08. Not only does this affidavit fail to dispel the notion that there are no genuine issues of fact, it is insufficient as an affidavit as to the matters it does set forth:

“It has been held that since affidavits must be made upon personal knowledge, an attorney's affidavit is usually insufficient, unless he has personal knowledge of the facts.” 3 *Federal Practice and Procedure*, section 1237 at page 166.

“Where attorney's affidavit, in support of motion or summary judgment was made upon information and belief and relevant portion thereof did not comply with Rule 56(e), United States Supreme Court would disregard averment in the motion as not supported by record. *Automatic Radio Mfg. Co. v. Hazeltine Research*, Mass. 1950.

70 S. Ct. 894, 339 U.S. 827, 94 L. Ed. 1312.” 3 *Federal Practice and Procedure*, section 1237 at page 166, note 47.

The court realized that issues were involved which should be presented on a trial. The court at the hearing on the motion stated:

“THE COURT: What I am concerned about is whether the record is such that I could grant a summary judgment. That is the whole story. It is not supported by any affidavit.

* * *

THE COURT: Well, I have some doubts about this but I’ll let you take your summary judgment on that basis. But I may be making an error on that. Why don’t you have the case come on for trial and settle all these things?” (T2. 4,5).

The above statement of the court was made at the time the first judgment was entered, but at the hearing on Appellant’s motion to vacate, nothing more was said about issues of fact. It merely went to the proposition that the court had been led to grant more than it intended, (T1. 3, lines 8-22). It is evident from the transcript that the court intended that the Respondents should only have judgment for a portion of the monies held by the defendant Union Carbide Nuclear Company. The transcript clearly indicates this to be the case:

“THE COURT: Then all you want is a judgment for four hundred twenty-two dollars and some odd cents and any other sums that have become due. You want that sort of a thing on your summary judgment?”

MR. LOWE: I'd like that." (T2. 4,5).

Upon the hearing of Appellant's motion to vacate judgment, it was clear that the court intended Appellant to have an opportunity to be heard before an amended judgment was signed. The court realized that the method of presenting the amended judgment was a short cut because it was not consistent with the Respondents' motion for summary judgment, and the court admitted that the matter was not properly before him, (T1. 4, line 22). Respondents' counsel mailed the proposed amended judgment to the court under date of July 3, 1959. A copy was not served on Appellant or any other party. The court apparently waited three or four days and then signed the judgment thinking no objections were to be made by Appellant's counsel. This is indicated by the following statement by the court:

"THE COURT: All right, you prepare it, file it, and I will entertain a motion to strike it if you have any question about it, and that is the way we will do that." (T1. 4).

The judgment having been signed, it appeared that a motion to strike would be untimely, and Appellant's only relief was an appeal. The notion that there are genuine issues to be tried by the court is evident from other parts of the record. Appellate courts in determining a motion for summary judgment have taken the view that they are entitled to look at all matters in the record to determine the propriety of the granting or denying a motion for summary judgment.

"On such a motion the court considers the

entire setting of the case and all papers of record. The pleadings as a whole, and not merely the complaint, are considered." 3 *Federal Practice and Procedure*, section 1236 at page 158.

Subsequent to this appeal, other parties have moved to vacate the judgment on the ground that the interests are not yet determined. These are: Motion to Modify or Vacate Judgment by defendant Union Carbide Nuclear Company (R. 54); Motion to Modify Judgment (R. 55); and Motion to Vacate Garnishee Judgment (R. 56).

CONCLUSION

It appears to be apparent from the record in this case that there was no adequate basis for the granting of the motion. Many issues are still pending and have arisen subsequent to the appeal herein. Appellant requests that this case be reversed and remanded to the trial court for further proceedings.