1959

Vada J. Tomlinson Acott et al v. Union Carbide Nuclear Company and Leslie A. Tomlinson : Brief of Plaintiffs and Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THIS COURT IS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO REVIEW ANY MATTERS CONTAINED IN THE JUDGMENT OF OCTOBER 31, 1958 IN THAT NO APPEAL WAS TIMELY TAKEN.

The Judgment of October 31, 1958 was the final judgment from which a timely appeal would have to be taken. A similar situation arose in *U. S. v. Wissahickon*, (CA 2d, 1952) 200 F. 2d 936. The district court had granted a motion for summary judgment against defendants by a written opinion on April 10, 1951. Approximately nine months later, on January 23, 1952, plaintiff had prepared judgments for the court's signature and noticed these up for settlement. Defendants presented motions to file supplemental answers and to reargue certain motions which had previously been denied. On February 1, 1952 the matters were heard, and defendant's motions were denied and the court signed the order and judgment prepared by plaintiff. Defendants appealed from these judgments and complain of the earlier adverse rulings.

The court said, at page 938:

“We may first address ourselves to the question whether or not the appeals taken on March 31, 1952, were timely. They were of course within the proper time, Fed. Rules Civ. Proc. rule 73(a), as appeals from the orders of February 1, 1952, but not from those of April 10, 1951. But the earlier orders were clearly the final judgments. No more explicit mandate for a plaintiff’s judgment than that granting a summary judgment in the amount claimed can be conceived; and notation of the grant in the civil docket on that date became the judgment under the provisions of F.R. 59. * * * * Nor would the date be changed by forms of judgment later submitted by counsel, even if these are signed by the judge.”

Respondents’ Memorandum of Authorities, in connection with their motion to dismiss the appeal heretofore filed and argued, contains most of the authorities and argument in connection with the point that a motion made under Rule 60 does not extend the time for appeal, and these authorities will not be repeated in this brief, since they are already before the Court. This Court has taken respondent’s motion to dismiss the appeal under advisement pending consideration of the case on its merits.

POINT II.

EXTENT OF REVIEW IS LIMITED TO CONSIDERING ERROR IN DENYING MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENT, OR IN MAKING AMENDMENT.

On June 29, 1959, approximately nine months after entry of judgment, appellant’s Motion to vacate the

Judgment was heard and denied (Tr. 2, Case #8005, p. 3). The Court then, on its own motion, amended the judgment according to the statements made by the court in directing the amendment. The Court apparently made the amendment to clarify the fact that the court was not making a determination as to the rights of any persons who were not parties to the suit.

Unless appellant can show that the court committed prejudicial error in denying his motion to vacate the judgment, or, in making the amendment which it did, then this Court must affirm the lower court. Any question of errors committed by the court in entering its October 31, 1958 judgment are not subject to review on this appeal.

Several cases have so limited the extent of review under the Federal Rules, which are practically identical with Utah Rules.

In *Saenz v. Kenedy*, (CA 5th, 1950) 178 F. 2d 417, the district court had granted defendant's motion for summary judgment by docket entry on August 8, 1948. Formal judgments were entered in the nine cases during September and October, the last being on October 13, 1948. No notices of appeal were filed within thirty days. Motions under Rule 60(b) were filed in January 1949 to have judgments vacated on the ground they were void and involved collusion between the trial court and plaintiffs. These motions were denied and notices of appeal were filed within 30 days from the denial.

The Appellate Court said, at page 419:

“Since the notices of appeal were filed within thirty days of the overruling of the motions to vacate final judgments for collusion and fraud on appeal thereunder would bring up to this Court for review only the propriety or impropriety — the correctness or the error — of the Court below in denying these motions to vacate. It would not bring up for review by this Court the final judgments entered in September, 1948. From these final judgments no appeals were taken within thirty days and this Court, is, therefore, without jurisdiction to review same. The appeals in these causes from such final judgments must be dismissed.”

See also *Tarkington v. U. S. Lines Company* (C. A. 2, 1955) 222 Fed. 2d 358: 7 *Moore's Federal Practice*, pp. 341-2; pp. 331-2, Sections 60.30(3); 60.27.

POINT III.

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO VACATE NOR IN THE COURT'S AMENDMENT OF THE JUDGMENT.

In his brief, appellant makes no contention of error with respect to either of the points which is properly reviewable by this court. However, respondents will discuss them to show the correctness of the trial court's denial of appellant's motion to vacate the judgment and the immaterial effect of the amendment which it made to the judgment.

Considering first the denial of appellant's motion to vacate the judgment, that motion alleged that the

judgment was void; that the pleadings presented material issues of fact, and that respondents' motion had been supported by affidavits based upon information and belief rather than on personal knowledge.

The only possible basis for relief from the judgment is under Rule 60(b). Examination of Rule 60(b) in the light of appellant's motion discloses that of these grounds only the contention that the judgment was void comes within the purview of that rule. The other grounds stated, if true, would only constitute error at law, and this is not a ground for relief under Rule 60(b). As to whether or not the judgment is void, the record discloses that the court had personal jurisdiction over all parties to the suit, and that they appeared and pleaded. The trial court had jurisdiction over the subject matter. The court having jurisdiction of the parties and the subject matter, the judgment was not void, no matter how erroneous it might have been. 7 *Moore's Federal Practice*, p. 259, Sec. 60.25(2). Therefore, the trial court had no alternative but to deny the motion to vacate the judgment, which it properly did.

Looking next at the amendment which the court made after denying appellant's motion, it is seen that this was made by the court on its own motion. Rule 60 provides two types of relief from judgments. Rule 60(a) deals with a court by motion or on its own initiative correcting clerical mistakes and errors in judgments arising from oversight or omission. Rule

60(b) relates to relief from judgments for certain specified grounds on motion of a party.

The trial court probably felt it was correcting an error arising from oversight or omission when it ordered the amendment, and hence would have been proceeding under Rule 60(a). On the other hand it may have concluded the amendment was responsive to appellant's arguments on his motion, and therefore ordered the amendment as correcting a mistake, within the purview of Rule 60(b)(1), although this ground was not set out in appellant's motion to vacate.

Although respondents believe the amendment should not have been made, they believe the amendment comes within the provisions of Rule 61, as being harmless error which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties. Since the purport of the amendment was to clarify that the court was not determining the rights of any persons not parties to the suit, the amendment did nothing to the judgment which would not have been done as a matter of general law. The doctrine of res adjudicata is clearly limited to parties to suits or their privies, and for this reason, the judgment could not have any effect upon persons not parties to the suit.

That the effect of the amendment does not prejudice appellant in any way is demonstrated by the statement contained in his brief at page 7, where he says, "The amended judgment accomplishes the same result [as the first judgment]."

For the foregoing reasons, respondents believe that, insofar as the only issues properly before this Court are concerned, there has been no prejudicial error committed which would justify a reversal of the trial court's actions.

POINT IV.

THE COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN ENTERING JUDGMENT ON RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Respondents believe that the foregoing portions of this brief have completely disposed of the matters which should properly be considered by this Court. However, because appellant has devoted his entire brief to matters which he contends were errors committed by the trial court when it granted respondents' motion for summary judgment on October 31, 1958, and in order to dispel any doubts which the Court might have that by affirming the trial court's rulings it might become an indirect party to a grave injustice, consideration will be given to those aspects of the case which were decided by the Judgment of October 31, 1958.

Even assuming appellant had made a timely appeal from the October 31, 1958 judgment, this Court would not be justified in reversing the trial court's action. As stated above, appellant was served with notice of the hearing of respondent's motion for summary judgment, and was thereby given an opportunity to appear and present the arguments which he now advances as error of the trial court. He did not avail himself of this opportunity, and

permitted the judgment to be entered without his appearance. For this reason he may not be heard to complain of errors allegedly committed by the trial court in his absence.

It is well settled that the scope of review on appeal from a default judgment is very limited. 5 *C.J.S.* p. 711, *Appeal & Error*, Sec. 1467. It is held that such review is limited to an examination of the pleadings, and that questions as to the sufficiency of evidence upon which the judgment was based is not open to review, *People v. Taliaferro*, 149 C.A. 2d 822, 309 P. 2d 48; and that an appeal will not lie from a default judgment which is merely voidable or erroneous, *Pacific Savings and Loan v. Bekins*, 146 Ore. 385, 29 P. 2d 816.

It is submitted that the trial court committed no error in entering the summary judgment of October 31, 1958. This judgment is the only result which properly can be reached if one puts himself in the role of the trial court and examines the pleadings and materials it had before it in ruling on respondents' motion for summary judgment.

The trial court had before it the complaint, answer and third party complaint of Union Carbide Nuclear Co., appellant's answer and counterclaim, the motion for summary judgment and the files and records of the prior action.

Consideration of the correctness of the trial court's ruling breaks down into the following facets: (1) Issues

between respondents and Union Carbide; (2) Issues between respondents and appellant as to accrued royalties; (3) Issues between respondents and appellant as to future royalties, and (4) Issues between appellant and Union Carbide as raised by appellant's Counterclaim. These matters will be discussed in that order.

(1) As between respondents and Union Carbide, the only genuine issue raised by the pleadings was a question of what mining claims respondents had acquired an interest in from the prior suit. Union Carbide claimed it owned the Temple mining claims, except for the portions passing to respondent's and their co-owners by a lease of May 1950. In the motion for summary judgment, respondents acknowledged this and claimed only an interest in the royalties accruing under that lease. This eliminated the only material issue between respondents and Union Carbide. Its counsel thereupon advised the court he would not appear to resist the motion and verified the amounts of royalties accrued under the lease up to the time of the motion. These amounts were exactly the same as set forth in the affidavit attached to respondent's motion and the amounts on which judgment was entered. These became the first two items of the October 31, 1958 judgment.

It is noteworthy that Union Carbide, the judgment debtor has not appealed, indicating the correctness of the lack of issues between respondents and that company.

(2) As to issues between appellant and respondents, these are best broken down into two categories,

namely, as to royalties already accrued and as to the future rights to royalties. By appellant's answer it is seen that he was claiming the entire interest in the royalty income for himself. This had been the question resolved by the prior action in which the court established a 12/21sts interest in this royalty income in respondents, and appellant was left with 9/21sts interest. That judgment in Civil No. 7468 was res adjudicata of the rights of the parties until their rights changed by virtue of the Sheriff's execution sale. Royalties accrued up to that time were divided in the judgment with respondents obtaining judgment for only 12/21sts thereof. Appellant cannot contend for anything contrary to this.

(3) By their complaint respondents asked for a determination of their rights to future royalties under the lease. At the time the complaint was filed, any determination would have required a ruling that respondents were entitled to a 12/21sts interest in the Tomlinson portion of those royalties. This would have been in keeping with the judgment of the prior action. However, by his answer to the third party complaint and counterclaim, appellant brought before the Court the fact that a Sheriff's sale had been had pursuant to a writ of execution at which respondent's had purchased all of the remaining interest appellant had in the property. A copy of the Sheriff's Certificate of Sale was attached to Appellant's pleading. From this the matter of respondents' interest acquired by the May 1, 1958 execution sale came into the suit.

In connection with appellant's answer, he had alleged the Sheriff's sale was void. To support this he alleges only that respondents were the brother and sisters of appellant and that because of this relationship the sheriff's sale on writ of execution is void. (R. 8005, page 26.) By his pleadings he makes no contention that the price paid was inadequate or that there was any unfairness in the conduct of the sale. These latter contentions first appear in appellant's brief.

The motion for summary judgment therefore necessitated an examination of whether or not there was any genuine issue of any material fact concerning the Sheriff's sale and if not what interest respondents acquired thereby as a matter of law.

As to the facts concerning the Sheriff's sale there was no dispute: Respondents had purchased all the remaining interest of appellant at a sheriff's sale on a writ of execution and had paid \$3,000.00 for that interest. All of the records relating to that sale are a part of the record of Civil No. 7468, which was before the court on the motion.

In this state of the pleadings, as a matter of law the Court had to reject the contention that a person may not levy execution upon the property of his brother against whom he has a judgment. Facing an allegation that the sale was void, it would then be incumbent upon the Court to examine the proceedings of the sale to see if there was anything about the sale which made it void on its face. There being nothing of this nature, the Court

could not do otherwise than rely upon the validity of the sheriff's sale, which it did.

The next question to be resolved by the trial court after determining the validity of the sheriff's sale was the extent of the interest respondents had in future royalties. By the prior action, respondent's had obtained the 12/21sts interest in the 3.7158% royalty interest. By the sheriff's sale, respondents acquired all the remaining interest that appellant had.

The files and records of Civil No. 7468 show that at the time of commencement of the prior action, appellant had the legal title to the entire interest to the property, subject only to the possible equitable interests of respondents and Mrs. Lillie M. Tomlinson, the mother of the parties. These possible equities would arise only by reason of the understanding and agreements of the parties at the time the legal title was conveyed by respondents and their mother to appellant. The determination of those equities was the precise question involved in the prior suit.

In the trial of that suit, Mrs. Lillie M. Tomlinson testified as a witness and disclaimed any interest in the property she had conveyed to appellant. (Tr. 1, No. 7468, pp. 186, 197, 199, 203, 204). It therefore becomes apparent that at the conclusion of the prior suit, appellant was left with 9/21sts interest, and by reason of Mrs. Lillie Tomlinson's disclaimer by her testimony there is no question that he held the entire beneficial interest in that 9/21st interest. The sheriff's deed therefore resulted

in a conveyance of a 9/21st interest to respondents, and respondents thereupon became the owners of the entire 3.7158% interest in the mining properties and were such at the time of the motion for summary judgment.

Although it goes without saying that the only persons bound by the judgment are those who are parties to the suit or their privies, the trial court felt constrained to amend the judgment in this respect in order that no question of *res adjudicata* might be raised if Lillie M. Tomlinson should in the future attempt to assert an equitable interest in the property in a later action she might bring against respondents. As to this point, however, see *Faulkner v. Dooly*, 28 U. 236, 78 P. 365; *Wood v. Fox*, *Whitney v. Fox*, 8 U. 380, 32 P. 48, *aff'd*. 66 U.S. 648, 41 L. Ed. 1149, for cases holding that even apart from her disclaimer she would be barred from asserting any interest at this time because of laches and the statute of limitations. Regardless of the outcome of any such possible later action by the mother, legal title to the entire interest is in respondents by virtue of the judgment in the prior action and the Sheriff's sale.

(4) There remains only to consider appellant's counterclaim against Union Carbide. The allegations of the counterclaim are that Union Carbide was the lessee of the mining properties involved in the suit and that by reason thereof it owed a duty to protect appellant's interest from the Sheriff's sale under writ of execution. (R. 8005, p. 27) There is no allegation of any duty except as arises from Union Carbide's leasing the premises.

These leases between appellant and Union Carbide are part of the record (R. 2, No. 7468, pp. 10-36), and they show there was no duty imposed on the lessee such as contended. Appellant was aware of the forthcoming sheriff's sale, having served a motion to recall the writ of execution and for a temporary restraining order against the sheriff's conducting the sale. Having known of the sale and having attended it in person, he was fully capable of protecting any rights he had in the property.

Conceding all of the facts alleged in appellant's counterclaim as true, the proposition then becomes one of law of whether or not a lessee, merely by reason of his status as such, owes a duty to his lessor to prevent a sheriff's sale of the property pursuant to a writ of execution where the lessor knows of the sale himself. There can be no such recovery on facts such as those alleged as a matter of law.

From the foregoing, it is seen that there was no genuine issue of any material fact for the court to resolve by trial, and that the court as a matter of law was correct in granting respondent's motion for summary judgment.

Two other matters raised by appellant in his brief should be briefly mentioned. First, appellant contends the affidavit of Thomas C. Cuthbert was based on information and belief and the granting of a judgment based upon this constitutes reversible error. Apart from Union Carbide's counsel's verifying these figures to the court, examination of the affidavit shows a statement of an admission against interest made by counsel for Union

Carbide. This statement is not based upon information and belief, and is competent evidence of the facts stated therein. The affiant states that based upon the admission against interest as to the fact, he believes the truth of the amounts of accrued royalty set out in the affidavit. It is further submitted that appellant is not prejudiced in any way by the affidavit, since it goes to the amount to be paid out by Union Carbide, which has not appealed from the judgment against it.

Next, appellant argues that respondents did not give him an opportunity to object to the form of the amended judgment before it was entered. Examination of the transcript of proceedings reveals that the Court directed respondents' counsel to prepare an amended judgment and file it. If appellant desired to object, he would have an opportunity to do so by a motion to strike. A copy of the amended judgment was mailed to appellant on July 7, 1959, the date it was entered, and he made no motion respecting that judgment as the Court had proposed. For this reason he cannot contend he was prejudiced in any way by this procedure.

CONCLUSION

It is therefore respectfully submitted that this Court must dismiss the appeal now before it on the following grounds: It has no jurisdiction to decide any of the issues raised by appellant's brief. The judgment of October 31, 1958 now complained of by the appellant became final and no appeal was taken within the time pre-

scribed by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The trial court committed no error in the entry of that judgment and the same was proper. If there was any error committed by the Court, it was in amending the judgment on July 7, 1959, when it had no jurisdiction to make an amendment for other than an error of omission. Such amendment, since it merely eliminates any effect the prior judgment might have had on persons not parties to the suit, is not prejudicial to the rights of any of the parties and is therefore harmless error. The errors complained of by appellant, if they were in fact errors, constituted harmless errors which must be disregarded. It is noteworthy that this litigation and its antecedent have been in the courts for over five years, and have involved expenditures of time and money disproportionate to the amounts in controversy. Respondents respectfully urge that this Court should endeavor to bring this litigation to a close without further controversy.